**DATED** 2021

(1) THE LONDON PENSIONS FUND AUTHORITY

and

(2) THE LONDON BOROUGHS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE 2

# PENSIONS AGREEMENT In respect of GLC/ILEA Local Government Pension Scheme liabilities

2nd Floor 169 Union Street London SE1 OLL

# **CONTENTS**

Clause		Page
1	INTERPRETATION	5
2	EFFECTIVE DATE	7
3	CATEGORY B LIABILITIES	7
4	CATEGORY A LIABILITIES	7
5	REVALUATION OF THE CATEGORY A LIABILITIES	8
6	INTEREST ON LATE PAYMENT	9
7	NOTICES	9
8	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	
9	WAIVER	10
10	SEVERANCE	10
11	ENTIRE AGREEMENT	
12	AMENDMENT	
13	MORE THAN ONE COUNTERPART	
14	LAWS	11
	SCHEDULE 1	
	Proportionate Share for each London Borough	
	SCHEDULE 2	46
	List of parties to Pensions Agreement	46

#### Between:

- (1) **THE LONDON PENSIONS FUND AUTHORITY** of 2nd Floor, 169 Union Street, London, SE1 0LL (the "**Administering Authority**"); and
- (2) THE LONDON BOROUGHS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE 2 TO THIS AGREEMENT (the "Boroughs")

# **Background**

- (A) The Administering Authority is an administering authority. It administers and maintains the Fund in accordance with the Regulations. The Administering Authority also has acts in other capacities and has other responsibilities, including being responsible for administering various levy payments in respect of various other residual liabilities and benefits (such as in relation to asbestosis claims) as referred to in Recital M.
- (B) Each Borough is a Scheme employer within the meaning of the Regulations. The Boroughs inherited and are responsible for certain historic liabilities, as set out in the following Recitals to this Agreement. Where "Boroughs" is used this refers to the Boroughs as a whole and "Borough" means each borough in its own capacity.
- (C) In 1986 the Greater London Council ("GLC") was abolished.
- (D) At the time of the GLC's abolition:
  - (i) the employees of the GLC transferred to new employers, principally the Boroughs (and other employers);
  - (ii) it was agreed that the liabilities in respect of the active members that became employed by the Boroughs should be transferred across from the GLC Fund to the Successor Funds;
  - (iii) an appropriate apportionment of the GLC Fund in respect of these active members was calculated and paid to each of the Successor Funds in 1990; and
  - (iv) this transfer and payment only related to those active members that are referred to above. The deferred, pensioner and dependant liabilities remained in the GLC Fund.
- (E) Separately, in 1990 the Inner London Education Authority ("ILEA") was abolished.
- (F) At the time of ILEA's abolition:
  - (i) the ILEA staff transferred to, principally, the Inner London Boroughs;
  - (ii) the Inner London Boroughs became education authorities in their own right and took on the relevant functions of ILEA;
  - (iii) the former LGPS regulations were amended to provide that any employee of ILEA who transferred to an Inner London Borough within a month of leaving would remain in the ILEA Fund and no apportionment would be made; and
  - (iv) the pensioner and deferred liabilities would also remain in the ILEA Fund.
- (G) In April 1986, the London Residuary Body ("LRB") was established and was the successor body to the GLC and ILEA. The LRB took over the functions of the GLC Fund and the ILEA Fund.
- (H) In 1989 the Administering Authority was established by The London Government Reorganisation (Pensions etc.) Order 1989 to take over certain functions of the LRB (including in respect of the former GLC Fund and ILEA Fund and associated liabilities),

with effect on and from 1 April 1990. In 1996, the LRB was wound-up and the liabilities remained with the Administering Authority.

- (I) The Boroughs agree that they are responsible for the Category A Liabilities.
- (J) At the time of the abolitions referred to in the recitals above and based on actuarial assumptions at the time, it was believed that there were sufficient assets to meet the liabilities referred to in this Agreement. Such liabilities were retained in the Fund and the Administering Authority is now reverting to the Boroughs to meet those liabilities as it has been identified that there are not sufficient assets to meet those liabilities. The Boroughs inherited responsibility for those liabilities and, therefore, this Agreement thereby documents that they are responsible for those liabilities.
- (K) The issue regarding the Category A Liabilities began to materialise in 2001 when it became clear that the monies that were originally retained in respect of the Category A Liabilities would not be enough to meet the actual Category A Liabilities and to pay the benefits required. There are now insufficient assets to meet these payments, and therefore additional funds are now required from the Boroughs to meet these liabilities.
- (L) The Administering Authority subsequently carried out further valuations which confirmed the future funding deficit in respect of the Category A Liabilities. The Administering Authority notified the Boroughs that it intended to issue a levy in relation to the Category A Liabilities relating to the deficit. The former Government prepared draft regulations in relation to the responsibility for this deficit, however, this was challenged, and the position remained unresolved. The later Coalition Government's view was that the Boroughs and the Administering Authority should try and resolve this issue amongst themselves and failing this, the position would need to be legislated for.
- (M) There is currently in place a levy in respect of the Category B Liabilities, being the Current Total Levy in respect of which each of the Boroughs pay the relevant Current Levy Share.
- (N) It is understood that the Current Total Levy will decrease over time (due to the liabilities 'dropping off') and therefore the Current Levy Share that each Borough is required to pay in respect of the Category B Liabilities will decrease. For the avoidance of doubt, the Category B Liabilities are not the same as the Category A Liabilities.
- (O) The Administering Authority carried out its triennial valuation of the Fund as at 31 March 2019. This revealed that the total deficit in respect of the Category A Liabilities was approximately £139,652,000 as at that date. This is calculated on the ongoing basis.
- (P) The Administering Authority and the Society for London Treasurers have agreed on behalf of the Boroughs that:
  - (i) a fair proportion of the Category A Liabilities for which the Boroughs are responsible is 90% (these liabilities were underfunded by £125,687,000 as at 31 March 2019);
  - (ii) each Borough's agreement and responsibility for the Category A Liabilities shall be documented and set out in this Agreement;
  - (iii) the Category A Liabilities will be apportioned to each Borough on the basis of the Proportionate Share;
  - (iv) as the Current Levy Share starts to reduce, as set out in Recital N, this will enable the Boroughs to use their funding which they have set aside to meet the Current Levy Share to pay off the Proportionate Share;
  - (v) the Borough will pay an amount at least equal to the Payment Amount to the Administering Authority each year to pay off the Proportionate Share;

- (vi) the amount of the Category A Liabilities will be revalued at each triennial valuation and will be notified to the Borough, along with that Borough's Category A Liabilities Proportionate Share; and
- (vii) the relevant payments by each Borough will be made every year until the Borough's share of the Category A Liabilities have been paid in full. The Category A Liabilities will only be discharged in respect of each Borough under this Agreement if the relevant Borough has paid off in full its share of the Category A Liabilities.
- (Q) However, the Administering Authority recognises that some Boroughs may wish to agree alternative arrangements in respect of how to fund its Proportionate Share. The Administering Authority will discuss such proposals with the Boroughs who wish to make alternative arrangements, however, this is on the basis that at least the Payment Amount is paid to the Administering Authority to pay off the Proportionate Share within the Scheme Year in which this Agreement is signed.
- (R) The Administering Authority and the Boroughs have agreed to enter into this Agreement to confirm the agreed position in respect of the Category A Liabilities.
- (S) This Agreement has been signed by the Administering Authority's Chief Executive Officer without affixing the Administering Authority's common seal in the presence of a witness due to the Government's social distancing measures in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, in accordance with delegated authority from the Administering Authority's Board.

# NOW IT IS AGREED as follows:

# 1. Interpretation

1.1 The following expressions have the following meanings:

"2013 Regulations"	the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013.

"Actuary" an actuary appointed by the Administering Authority.

"Category A Liabilities" liabilities to the Fund as a result of the events as set out in Recitals C to H of this Agreement.

"Category B Liabilities"

liabilities in respect of which the Relevant
Legislation allows the Administering Authority to
issue levies and demand payment from the
Boroughs in respect of the unfunded liabilities, such

to GLC/ILEA.

"Current Levy Proportion that each Borough pays based on the 2016/17 Council Tax Base with:

(i) a Greater London spread for group 1 (in respect of the former GLC/LRB staff); and

as administration costs and asbestos claims relating

(ii) an Inner London spread for group 2 (in respect of the former ILEA staff)

as set out in the Relevant Legislation.

"Current Levy Share" means each Borough's individual levy share in relation to the Category B Liabilities calculated in

7491645.15

accordance with the Current Levy Proportion Basis, as formally notified to the Boroughs on 14 February each year, and the payments in respect of which are collected by the Greater London Authority on behalf of the Fund and then paid into the Fund's account each month.

"Current Total Levy"

the levy currently in place in respect of the Category B Liabilities which is payable by the London Boroughs (totalling £23,380,000) as at January 2021.

"Payment Amount"

the difference between the Current Levy Share amount as it stands at the date of this Agreement and each year's subsequent Current Levy Share. The Payment Amount would be nil if there is no underfunding for the Category A Liabilities.

"Proportionate Share"

means each Borough's proportionate share in relation to the underfunding in respect of the Category A Liabilities calculated in accordance with the Current Levy Proportion Basis (the percentages in relation to which are set out in **Schedule 1**).

"Effective Date"

the date of this Agreement.

"Fund"

the London Pensions Fund Authority's Pension Fund.

"GLC Fund"

the GLC's LGPS Fund, which was operated by the GLC. For the avoidance of doubt, the GLC Fund is no longer in existence.

"Inner London Boroughs"

means the following Boroughs: London Borough of Camden; London Borough of Greenwich; London Borough of Hackney; London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham; London Borough of Islington; Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea; London Borough of Lambeth; London Borough of Lewisham; London Borough of Southwark; London Borough of Tower Hamlets; London Borough of Wandsworth; City of Westminster and the City of London

"Levy Regulations"

the Levying Bodies (General) Regulations 1992.

"Registered Pension Scheme"

a pension scheme registered under Chapter 2 of Part 4 of the Finance Act 2004.

"Relevant Legislation"

section 69 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, the London Government Reorganisations (Pensions) Order 1989 and the Levy Regulations and any other relevant powers or regulations that may be applicable.

"Regulations"

the 2013 Regulations and the Transitional Regulations.

"Scheme"

the Local Government Pension Scheme established and governed by the Regulations.

"Scheme Year" a year beginning on a 1 April and ending on the

next 31 March.

"Successor Fund" the appropriate Borough's fund which that

employee was transferred to on GLC's abolition.

"Transitional Regulations" the Local Government Pension Scheme

(Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment)

Regulations 2014.

1.2 Expressions have the same meaning as in the Regulations except where the context otherwise requires.

- 1.3 This Agreement includes a heading at the start of each Clause which outlines its provisions. These are included for information only.
- 1.4 Any reference in this Agreement to any statute or statutory provision will include any subordinate legislation made under it and, except as provided in **Clause 4.2** (Change in the Current Levy Proportion Basis), will be construed as a reference to such statute, statutory provision and/or subordinate legislation as modified, amended, extended, consolidated, re-enacted and/or replaced and in force from time to time.
- 1.5 Words such as "in particular", "includes" or "including" shall not limit the generality of the words preceding them.

#### 2. Effective Date

This Agreement shall have effect on and from the Effective Date.

# 3. Category B Liabilities

The parties agree and confirm that each Borough remains responsible for its share of the Category B Liabilities under the Relevant Legislation. Nothing in this Agreement prejudices the obligations in respect of the Category B Liabilities.

# 4. Category A Liabilities

# 4.1 Calculation of the Proportionate Share

- 4.1.1 The Proportionate Share will be calculated by the Actuary at each triennial valuation based on the Current Levy Proportion Basis. The Proportionate Share will be notified in writing to the Borough by 14 February each year.
- 4.1.2 The Proportionate Share in respect of each of the Boroughs as at 31 March 2019 is set out in **Schedule 1** to this Agreement.
- 4.1.3 Without prejudice to **Clause 10** (Waiver), in the event that the Proportionate Share is not calculated and notified within the timescales as set out above for any reason, this shall not be construed nor shall it be deemed to be a waiver of the Administering Authority's rights in respect of this.

# 4.2 Change in the Current Levy Proportion Basis

- 4.2.1 If the proportions change under the Relevant Legislation without the Relevant Legislation being amended, this will not impact upon the Current Levy Proportion Basis.
- 4.2.2 If the Relevant Legislation is amended which may impact on the Current Levy Proportion Basis, such amendments will not impact upon the proportions

payable by the Boroughs unless the Administering Authority otherwise determines.

# 4.3 Responsibility for the Proportionate Liability Share

- 4.3.1 The parties agree and confirm that each Borough is responsible and continues to be responsible under this Agreement for its Proportionate Share until it has been paid in full.
- 4.3.2 For the avoidance of doubt, each Borough's Proportionate Share, as set out in **Schedule 1**, represents the Proportionate Share as at 31 March 2019. This will be revalued at each triennial valuation. Each Borough will be responsible for the amount as revalued at each triennial valuation and will have to fund this in accordance with **Clause 4.4** below.

# 4.4 Funding the Proportionate Share

- 4.4.1 Each Borough agrees to pay an amount at least equal to the Payment Amount to the Administering Authority to pay off the Proportionate Share each year on such payment dates as the Current Levy is required to be paid. The Administering Authority will be responsible for notifying the Boroughs of their relevant Proportionate Share, the relevant Payment Amount, and the process for payment of the relevant amount in line with existing arrangements for Current Levy Share payments or by such other arrangement or agreement between the Boroughs and the Administering Authority.
- 4.4.2 The payments which are made by each Borough in accordance with **Clause**4.4.1 will be credited to the Fund and set against the relevant Borough's Proportionate Share.
- 4.4.3 The payment made in accordance with the above **Clause 4.4.1** will continue to occur every year until the Proportionate Share has been paid in full. Each Borough's liability under this Agreement shall cease when its Proportionate Share has been paid in full.

# 4.4.4 For the avoidance of doubt:

- 4.4.4.1 nothing in this Agreement prejudices any other agreement between the Administering Authority and the Borough, payment or obligation or obligations of the Borough in respect of other and any remaining liabilities (whether required by the Regulations, Relevant Legislation or by any other legislation or otherwise); and
- 4.4.4.2 by entering into this Agreement the parties are not waiving any rights and/or entitlements in respect of or under the Regulations, Relevant Legislation, or other legislation.

# 5. Revaluation of the Category A Liabilities

For the avoidance of doubt:

- 5.1 the amount of the Category A Liabilities will be revalued by the Actuary at each triennial valuation.
- 5.2 the amount of the Category A Liabilities will be notified to the Borough, along with the Proportionate Share and Payment Amount each year; and
- 5.3 the payments will be made every year until the Borough's share of the Category A Liabilities have been paid in full.

# 6. **Interest on Late Payment**

If any sum payable by the Borough under this Agreement remains unpaid, the Administering Authority may require the Borough to pay interest on the unpaid sum, at the same rate and on the same terms as payable in respect of the Current Levy Share.

# 7. **Notices**

All notices under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be served by sending the same by first class post, facsimile or by hand or leaving the same at the headquarter address of the Administering Authority or the Borough (as the case may be).

# 8. **Dispute Resolution**

# 8.1 Restriction on litigation

- 8.1.1 Except as set out in **Clause 8.5**, no party may commence proceedings in relation to a dispute that arises out of or in connection with this Agreement unless that party has:
  - (a) served notice (a "**Referral Notice**") on the other party notifying it of the relevant dispute; or
  - (b) already received a Referral Notice from another party in relation to the same dispute.
- 8.1.2 For the avoidance of doubt, no party may raise a dispute under this **Clause 8** except in relation to an invoice raised by the Administering Authority under this Agreement.
- 8.1.3 Nothing in this **Clause 8** will prevent the Administering Authority from exercising its statutory powers under the Local Government Act 1985, Greater London Authority Act 1999 or any other statute or under the Levy Regulations or any other subordinate legislation, in particular the ability of the Administering Authority to levy the Boroughs in respect of any deficit in the Fund.

# 8.2 **Resolution process - Stage 1**

Following service of a Referral Notice, each party must respectively procure that the relevant dispute is referred for resolution to its appropriate representative as set out in the following table:

Party	Stage 1 representative
Each Borough	any person of a level notified by the respective Borough to the Administering Authority (such notification to be made within 14 Business Days of the Effective Date)
Administering Authority	Funding and Risk Director or any other Principal Officer nominated by the Chief Executive Officer.

Those representatives must meet at the earliest convenient time and in any event within 10 Business Days of the date of service of the Referral Notice, and must negotiate in good faith and attempt to resolve the dispute.

# 8.3 Resolution process – Stage 2

If a dispute has not been resolved within 15 Business Days of the date of service of the relevant Referral Notice, each party must respectively procure that the dispute is referred for resolution to its appropriate representative as set out in the following table:

Party	Stage 2 representative
Each Borough	any person of a level notified by the respective Borough to the Administering Authority (such notification to be made within 14 Business Days of the Effective Date)
Administering Authority	Chief Executive Officer or any Principal Officer nominated by the Chief Executive Officer (excluding the stage 1 representative).

Those representatives must meet at the earliest convenient time and in any event within 25 Business Days of the date of service of the Referral Notice, and must negotiate in good faith and attempt to resolve the dispute.

# 8.4 External resolution processes

- (a) Regardless of whether **Clauses 8.2** and **8.3** have been complied with, if a dispute is not resolved within 30 Business Days of service of the relevant Referral Notice any party may commence proceedings in accordance with **Clause 14** or, if the affected parties agree in writing to do so, the parties must attempt to settle the dispute by mediation in accordance with the CEDR Model Mediation Procedure. Any party may withdraw from a mediation at any time.
- (b) The provisions of this **Clause 8.4** do not affect any right that any party may have to damages in respect of a breach by another party of **Clauses 8.2** and **8.3**.

#### 8.5 **Preservation of rights**

- 8.5.1 Nothing in this **Clause 8** will prevent or delay any party from:
  - (a) seeking orders for specific performance, interim or final injunctive relief;
  - (b) exercising any rights it has to terminate this Agreement; or
  - (c) commencing proceedings where this is necessary to avoid loss of a claim owing to the rules on limitation of actions.

# 9. Waiver

Failure or neglect by the Administering Authority to enforce at any time any of the provisions of this Agreement or to use its powers under the Regulations, Relevant Legislation, any other legislation or otherwise shall not be construed, nor shall it be deemed to be a waiver of the Administering Authority's rights nor in any way affect the validity of the whole or any part of this Agreement nor its wider powers nor prejudice the Administering Authority's rights to take subsequent action.

# 10. Severance

10.1 If any provision of under this Agreement shall be found by any court or administrative body of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the other provisions of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect.

10.2 If any provision of this Agreement is so found to be invalid or unenforceable but would be valid or enforceable if some part of the provision were deleted the provision in question shall apply with such modification(s) as may be necessary to make it valid and enforceable.

# 11. Entire Agreement

Except where expressly provided and always subject to the Administering Authority's powers under the Regulations, Relevant Legislation, any other legislation or otherwise, this Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties in connection with its subject matter and supersedes all prior representations, communications, negotiations and understandings concerning the subject matter of this Agreement.

# 12. Amendment

- 12.1 The parties to this Agreement may, with the agreement of all of them in writing, amend this Agreement by deed provided that:
  - the amendment is not such that it would breach the Regulations or any other legal or regulatory requirements applicable to the Scheme; and
  - 12.1.2 the amendment would not prejudice the status of the Scheme as a Registered Pension Scheme.

# 13. More than one Counterpart

This Agreement may be executed in more than one counterpart, which together constitute one agreement. When each signatory to this Agreement has executed at least one part of it, it will be as effective as if all the signatories to it had executed all of the counterparts. Each counterpart Agreement will be treated as an original.

# 14. **Laws**

- 14.1 This Agreement will be governed by and interpreted in accordance with the laws of England and Wales.
- 14.2 Any rights that a third party may have under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 are excluded.

**EXECUTED** as a deed and delivered on the date stated at the beginning of this Agreement.

**EXECUTED** as a deed on behalf of **THE LONDON PENSIONS FUND AUTHORITY** acting by its Chief Executive Officer

# **Chief Executive Officer**

In the presence of Witness name: Witness signature:

**EXECUTED** as a deed by affixing THE COMMON SEAL of THE MAYOR AND COMMONALTY AND CITIZENS OF THE CITY OF LONDON in the presence of:

**Authorised Officer** 

# SCHEDULE 1 Proportionate Share for each London Borough

Employer name	Proportionate Share expressed as a % of the total	Proportionate Share 31 March 2019 expressed as a monetary amount
London Borough of Barking & Dagenham	0.72%	£899,000.00
London Borough of Barnet	2.12%	£2,660,000.00
London Borough of Bexley	1.23%	£1,549,000.00
London Borough of Brent	1.40%	£1,754,000.00
London Borough of Bromley	1.98%	£2,489,000.00
London Borough of Camden	5.92%	£7,438,000.00
London Borough of Croydon	1.84%	£2,315,000.00
London Borough of Ealing	1.71%	£2,149,000.00
London Borough of Enfield	1.48%	£1,854,000.00
London Borough of Greenwich	5.00%	£6,284,000.00
London Borough of Hackney	4.48%	£5,632,000.00
London Borough of	4.98%	£6,259,000.00
Hammersmith & Fulham		
London Borough of Haringey	1.13%	£1,419,000.00
London Borough of Harrow	1.28%	£1,612,000.00
London Borough of Havering	1.34%	£1,680,000.00
London Borough of Hillingdon	1.50%	£1,883,000.00
London Borough of Hounslow	1.25%	£1,576,000.00
London Borough of Islington	5.07%	£6,368,000.00
Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea	6.38%	£8,021,000.00
Royal Borough of Kingston Upon Thames	0.94%	£1,186,000.00
London Borough of Lambeth	6.78%	£8,519,000.00
London Borough of Lewisham	5.26%	£6,615,000.00
London Borough of Merton	1.12%	£1,402,000.00
London Borough of Newham	1.12%	£1,405,000.00
London Borough of Redbridge	1.30%	£1,638,000.00
London Borough of Richmond- upon-Thames	1.36%	£1,705,000.00
London Borough of Southwark	6.14%	£7,711,000.00
London Borough of Sutton	1.10%	£1,387,000.00
London Borough of Tower Hamlets	5.62%	£7,058,000.00
London Borough of Waltham Forest	1.12%	£1,413,000.00
London Borough of Wandsworth	8.46%	£10,632,000.00
City of Westminster	8.42%	£10,580,000.00
City of London	0.47%	£595,000.00
Total		£125,687,000.00

# SCHEDULE 2 List of parties to Pensions Agreement

Name of London Borough	Address of London Borough
London Borough of Barking & Dagenham	Town Hall, 1 Town Square, Barking, IG11 7LU
London Borough of Barnet	Building 4, North London Business Park, Oakleigh Road, South London, N11 1NP
London Borough of Bexley	Civic Offices, 2 Watling Street, Bexleyheath, Kent, DA6 7AT
London Borough of Brent	Brent Council, Brent Civic Centre, Engineers Way, Wembley, HA9 0FJ
London Borough of Bromley	Bromley Council, Civic Centre, Stockwell Close, Bromley BR1 3UH
London Borough of Camden	5 Pancras Square, London N1C 4AG
London Borough of Croydon	Croydon Council, Bernard Weatherill House, 8 Mint Walk, Croydon, CR0 1EA
London Borough of Ealing	Revenues, London Borough of Ealing, PO Box 1344, Ealing, W5 2BY
London Borough of Enfield	Civic Centre, Silver Street Enfield, EN1 3XA
London Borough of Greenwich	The Woolwich Centre, Wellington Street, Woolwich, SE18 6HQ
London Borough of Hackney	Hackney Service Centre, 1 Hillman Street, London, E8 1DY
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham	Hammersmith Town Hall, Hammersmith, London, W6 9JU
London Borough of Haringey	St Ann's Hospital, St Ann's Road, Tottenham, London, N15 3TH
London Borough of Harrow	Civic Centre, Station Road, Harrow, HA1 2XY
London Borough of Havering	London Borough of Havering, Town Hall, Main Road, Romford, RM1 3BD
London Borough of Hillingdon	Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, Middlesex, UB8 1UW
London Borough of Hounslow	London Borough of Hounslow, Civic Centre, Lampton Road, Hounslow, TW3 4DN
London Borough of Islington	Islington Customer Centre, 22 Upper Street, London, N1 1XR
Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea	The Town Hall, Hornton Street, London, W8 7NX
Royal Borough of Kingston Upon Thames	Guildhall 2, High Street, Kingston upon Thames, KT1 1EU
London Borough of Lambeth	Town Hall, Brixton Hill, Lambeth, SW2 1RW
London Borough of Lewisham	London Borough of Lewisham, Laurence House, 1 Catford Road, SE6 4RU
London Borough of Merton	London Borough of Merton, Civic Centre, London Road, Morden, SM4 5DX
London Borough of Newham	London Borough of Newham, Newham Dockside, 1000 Dockside Road, London, E16 2QU
London Borough of Redbridge	Lynton House, 255-259 High Road, Ilford, IG1 1NN
London Borough of Richmond-upon- Thames	Civic Centre, 44 York Street, Twickenham, TW1 3BZ
London Borough of Southwark	Southwark Council, PO BOX 64529, London, SE1P 5LX
London Borough of Sutton	Civic Offices, St Nicholas Way, Sutton, SM1 1EA
London Borough of Tower Hamlets	Tower Hamlets Council, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG
London Borough of Waltham Forest	London Borough of Waltham Forest, Town Hall, Forest Road, London, E17 5JF
London Borough of Wandsworth	The Town Hall, Wandsworth High Street, London, SW18 2PU
City of Westminster	Westminster City Hall, 64 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 6QP
City of London	City of London Corporation, Guildhall, PO Box 270, London EC2P 2EJ